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City of Bunnell 
604 E. Moody Blvd. Unit 6 

Bunnell, FL 32110 

ADDENDUM NO. 02 
This addendum is issued as part of the specifications and contract documents entitled: 

CITY OF BUNNELL 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR MSW CLASS 1/ CLASS 111/ LANDFILL/ C&D / MRF RECYCLING 

SERVICE/ YARD WASTE RECYCLING/ SOLID WASTE TRANSFER/ TRANSPORTATION & 
DISPOSAL SERVICES  

RFP NO: 2023-02 

Date Issued: 7/07/2023 

A. QUESTIONS & ANSWERS

1) Question 1: Can you give us a sample for the pricing sheet on Bunnell: *Addendum 1* MSW
Class 1/ Class 111/ Landfill/ C&D / MRF Recycling Service/ Yard Waste Recycling/ Solid Waste
Transfer/Transportation & Disposal Services?

Answer 1: The City does not use a set format or form for pricing.  The fee schedule/cost 
sheet/pricing sheet provided in the Bid response should clearly identify the cost per 
yard/ton, cost per item, or however else disposal of solid waste, recycling, yard waste or 
construction debris may be charged by the responder.   Any additional fees, such as fuel 
surcharges or any other possible fees that could be added to a dump ticket or invoice due 
to the service provided should be included in the fee schedule/cost sheet/pricing sheet.   

2) Question 2: How does the City collect recycling materials?

Answer 2: The City collects recycling as single sort material.  The City does not have the 
equipment or staff to collect materials already separated to deliver to the transfer site; items 
collected by City trucks will be delivered combined in one truck.  If providing bid for 
recycling services transfer/transportation and disposal services, please identify what 
materials will be accepted for recycling.  If there are any rebates/reduced rates offered for 
recycling materials, please identify what those rebates/reduced rates may be. 

3) Question 3: Can the City provide the tonnages by month from January 2022 through May 2023 for
each of the following waste streams:

a. Class I
b. Class III
c. C&D
d. MRF Recycling

i. can the city also provide the material type being recycled.
1. Is it single stream residential?
2. Dual stream residential?
3. Commercial cardboard?

e. Yard Waste
f. Tires
g. Household Hazardous Waste
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Answer 3:  Please see the totals below for dumping for the current fiscal year.

0ctober-22 November-22 December-22 January-23 February-23 March-23 April-23 May-23 

Commercial Solid Waste 202.74 230.84 179.43 232.60 203.99 228.83 224.88 243.76 

Residential Solid Waste 137.50 122.41 105.83 121.13 11 8.85 166.02 124.57 136.68 

Cardboard 21.39 26.37 20.64 21.14 18.73 20.10 21.71 20.22 

Residential Recycle 9.71 12.89 16.21 29.49 29.73 30.39 30.55 35.55 

Yard Waste 2324.00 146.0D 61.00 11 7.00 83.00 52.00 145.00 11 2.00 

C&D 34.28 19.52 26.29 54.88 17.49 26.76 29.53 31.97 
Other- Scrap/Misc/Tires 0.00 0.0D 0.00 5.06 5.94 4.98 0.00 6.49 
TOTALS 2729.62 558.03 409.40 581.30 477.73 529.08 576.24 586.67 

The totals for Fiscal Year 2021/2022 were: 

FY 21/22 
Total 

Commercial Solid Waste 2374.65 

Residential Solid Waste 1446.87 

Cardboard 278.42 

Residential Recycle 304.19 

Yard Waste 1203.00 

C&D 319.00 
Other- Scrap/Misc/Tires 16.44 
TOTALS 5942.57 

The City does residential single stream garbage and recycling collection (all garbage/ 
recycling goes into one toter/cart issued by the City and is dumped into the same truck). 

Clean commercial cardboard is collected by the City.   

Commercial dumpster service is provided by the City. 

In 2021, due to industry standards, the City had to alter its recycling program.  At this time 
the following materials are collected for residential recycling: clean carboard and aluminum; 
however, the City would like to resume the collection and processing of glass and plastics as 
part of the recycling program.  Any bidder should include information on the types of 
materials they can/will take for recycling.   

The City does not collect hazardous household goods on a regular basis.  The City may wish 
to host a hazardous household waste collection day(s) and therefore is seeking rates for the 
disposal of these types of waste. 

The City averages about 16-18 visits per week to our current provider to empty trucks. 

4) Question 4: Where is the City delivering each of these waste streams to today?

Answer 4:  The City’s current contract is with Environmental Land Services LLC 1841 North
State St., Bunnell, FL 32110.

Addendum NO. 02      REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL FOR MSW CLASS 1/ CLASS 111/ LANDFILL/ C&D / MRF RECYCLING 
SERVICE/ YARD WASTE RECYCLING/ SOLID WASTE TRANSFER/ TRANSPORTATION & DISPOSAL SERVICES RFP2023-02      
Page 2 of 5 



The City has no other contracts for disposal of solid waste or recycling.  For items not 
accepted by the current provider the City has used the following: Global Tire Recycling 1201 
Industrial Dr., Wildwood, FL 34785. 

5) Question 5: What is the current rate for disposal and/or processing the City currently pays for each
waste stream?

Answer 5:  Under the City’s current contract, the City pays $6.00 per cubic yard for yard waste,
$48.75 per ton for solid waste disposal and $48.75 per ton for construction and debris
disposal.

The City started paying a $500.00 per week fuel surcharge in September 2022.  This was due to
rising fuel prices experienced by the current contractor, but was not considered to be a
permanent charge and could be stopped once fuel prices are lowered further.

Per the original 2015 contract, there is a $20.00 per ton rebate for clean cardboard; however,
this rebate fluctuates based on the market rate.

6) Question 6: Based on the question and answer in Addendum NO.01 will the city provide a complete
list of any multifamily and commercial customers it services as well as the number of single-family
homes is collects from.

Answer 6:  The table below reflects the number of solid waste accounts as of May 2023:

Service Number of Accounts 

Residential 1270 

Commercial Cart 160 

2 yd 1x per week 15 

2 yd 2x per week 61 

2 yd 3x per week 6 

4 yd 1x per week 11 

4 yd 2x per week 35 

4 yd 3x per week 3 

6 yd 1x per week 

6 yd 2x per week 

5 

8 

6 yd 3x per week 5 

8 yd 1x per week 2 

8 yd 2x per week 8 

8 yd 3x per week 7 

Note:  The City is in several due diligence discussions with developers that will significantly increase 
the number of solid waste accounts, both residential and commercial, over then next 1 to 5 years. 

7) Question 7: What are the services and frequencies for each waste stream the City provides to the
residents?

Answer 7:  Residential customers receive the following pick-ups per week: 1 yard waste, 2
solid waste, 1 recycling and 1 bulk pick-up.
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Commercial carts are picked up once a week.   

Commercial dumpsters can be picked up once, twice or three times per week. 

Commercial cardboard is picked up once a week. 

8) Question 8: Will the City provide a pricing format for the disposal portion for the bidders to respond
with. If the City provides the form, it will create a uniform response.

Answer 8:  The City is not issuing a pricing form for bid submittal (see question and answer 1
Addendum No. 02).  Please provide the cost to dispose of items per ton or yard, whichever is
applicable to the item type accepted by the bidder.  If there are other possible fees or costs
associated with the use of the dumping site, they need to be listed.

9) Question 9: Will the City extend the due date to allow time for bidders to adjust bids based on

answers to questions submitted?

Answer 9:  The bid due date will not be extended.

10) Question 10: Please explain ADA compliant electronic copy in pdf format.

Answer 10:  ADA compliant means the document and any images have been converted to be
readable to an e-reader.

11) Question 11: Please provide average daily, weekly, and yearly volumes of MSW Class 1. Please

provide average daily, weekly, and yearly volumes of Class 111. Please provide average daily,

weekly, and yearly volumes of Construction and Demolition debris. Please provide average daily,

weekly, and yearly volumes of Recycling. Please provide average daily, weekly, and yearly volumes

of Yard Waste. Please provide average daily, weekly, and yearly volumes of Tire Disposal. Please

provide average daily, weekly, and yearly volumes of Solid Waste for transfer.

Answer 11:  See charts provided in Addendum 02 Question 3.  To provide this information for
daily, weekly and yearly data would take an extended period of time to gather and organize for
an answer which would delay the posting of the addendum and give potential responders less
time to prepare and submit their bids.

Additional Fiscal Year dumping totals to assist with answering this question and providing
data are below:

Fiscal Year 2020/2021 Total Fiscal Year 2019/2020 Total 

Commercial Solid Waste 1995.58 Commercial Solid Waste 1960.54 
Residential Solid Waste 1546.61 

Residential Solid Waste 1380.89 
Cardboard 276.50 

Residential Recycle 346.80 
Cardboard & Recycle 585.98 

Yard Waste 1153.00 Yard Waste 1593.00 

C&O 574.58 C&D 315.51 
Other- Scrap or Misc 4.27 Other- Scrap or Misc 12.79 
TOTALS 5897.34 TOTALS 5848.71 
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12) Question 12: Please provide average daily, weekly, and yearly volumes of Household Hazardous

Waste.

Answer 12:  The City has never gathered household hazardous waste on its own; we have
partnered with adjacent jurisdictions to host household hazardous waste collection days.
There is no data to provide.

13) Question 13: Please explain How materials are delivered, i.e., type of truck, etc.

Answer 13:  Currently the City operates two (2) solid waste trucks- a 2010 Mack LEU613 and a
2019 Peterbuilt 520- and one grapple truck- 2023 Freightliner M2.  Materials are collected and
delivered in all these trucks; dumped from the body of each truck.

14) Question 14: Are tires delivered in a separate truck?

Answer 14:  Tires are delivered in their own load; only tires in the entire truck.  They are
delivered using the grapple truck.

15) Question 15: How are furniture, bulk, and appliances delivered, i.e., flatbed truck

Answer 15:  All bulk and construction debris are gathered with the grapple truck and delivered
in the same truck.  Depending on the route ad items placed out for pickup, furniture and
construction debris may be delivered in the same load.

16) Question 16: Is the City looking for a site to hold “Hazardous Waste” days twice per year?

Answer 16:  The City has not determined if it wishes to hold these collection days.  The City is
looking to explore hosting these types of says one or twice a year.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: 

______________________________________________________ 
Signature and Date 

_______________________________________________________ 
Printed Name and Title 

_______________________________________________________ 
Company Name 

PLEASE ACKNOWLEDGE AND INCLUDE ALL ADDENDA IN YOUR BID SUBMISSION PACKET 

END ADDENDUM NO. 02 


